
 

 

January 12, 2026 

 

John Walk 

Inspector General 

Office of Inspector General 

U.S. Department of Agriculture 

 

Via email: public-affairs@oig.usda.gov  

 

Re: Request for Investigation into JKL Secure Freight and USDA APHIS 

Oversight Following Death of a Juvenile Long‑Tailed Macaque 

Dear Inspector General Walk: 

I’m writing on behalf of People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals—PETA 

entities have more than 10 million members and supporters globally—to request 

an investigation by the U.S. Department of Agriculture's (USDA) Office of 

Inspector General (OIG) into serious oversight failures by the Animal and Plant 

Health Inspection Service (APHIS) in connection with a February 7, 2023 

shipment of primates transported by JKL Secure Freight.   

APHIS’s decision to close the matter without even a citation reflects a failure to 

reconcile material inconsistencies in regulated records and to exercise 

meaningful oversight of a registered primate carrier. When an animal dies during 

transport—and the carrier’s own records conflict on the circumstances of that 

death—closure without citation is a red flag. Left unexamined, this failure 

undermines public confidence in APHIS oversight and enforcement and signals 

tolerance for deficient transport practices. 

An independent OIG review is therefore warranted to determine whether APHIS 

appropriately evaluated the evidence, exercised enforcement discretion 

consistent with law and regulations, and maintained adequate oversight of 

primate transporters. Additionally, we request that the OIG examine whether 

JKL Secure Freight met its obligations as a USDA-registered carrier to observe 

and monitor non-human primates during transport, and whether the transport 

records were falsified. 

Transport Records Conflict with Monkey Dead on Arrival 

On December 3, 2025, we received records obtained through the Freedom of 

Information Act, showing that on February 7, 2023, 39 long-tailed macaques 

were shipped from BC US LLC (58-B-0628) in Florida (see Enclosure 1) and 

transported to a laboratory in Connecticut, (identified as Boehringer Ingelheim, 

16-R-0029, see Enclosure 2) by JKL Secure Freight (registered as LR Transport 

LLC, 88-T-0010). One juvenile female monkey was found dead on arrival. 



JKL’s paperwork stated that all animals were “active and alert” throughout transit and at 6:42 a.m. when 

they were delivered (see Enclosure 3). This account is flatly contradicted by the receiving facility, which 

documented that the macaque was cold and in advanced rigor mortis upon arrival. A necropsy report 

was inconclusive as to the cause of death (see Enclosure 4). 

 

APHIS Closed the Inspection Without Citation  

 

Following a complaint submitted to USDA, APHIS conducted a focused inspection on June 27, 2023, 

led by Dr. Katharine Frank. Despite a confirmed death on arrival and transporter records that were 

demonstrably inconsistent with the observed condition of the animal, Dr. Frank closed the inspection 

without citing any violation of the Animal Welfare Act, including the transport observation requirement 

under 9 CFR § 3.90(a), which requires transporters to observe nonhuman primates at least every four 

hours to detect distress and obtain veterinary care as needed. In doing so, APHIS accepted JKL’s 

account at face value and declined to address the apparent false reporting in regulated transport records.  

 

A finding of zero violations in the context of a primate arriving dead on a transport truck that hauled 39 

monkeys more than 1300 miles raises serious concerns about inspection adequacy and enforcement 

decision-making. The records produced do not explain how APHIS evaluated or reconciled transporter 

documentation asserting that all animals were “active and alert” with the receiving facility’s 

documentation that a macaque arrived dead and in advanced rigor mortis. Although JKL submitted an 

incident report related to this shipment (see Enclosure 5), the version produced in response to the FOIA 

request is heavily redacted, preventing meaningful assessment of what information APHIS relied 

upon—or disregarded—in reaching its conclusion to issue a clean inspection report.  

 

Documented Pattern of Violations 

 

This incident is not isolated. JKL Secure Freight has been cited repeatedly since 2018 for violations 

related to the transportation of nonhuman primates, including failures involving animal observation, 

veterinary certification, and transport conditions:  

 

• October 22, 2018: Critical violation was issued under 9 CFR § 3.90(a) after a rhesus macaque 

died following arrival, dehydration was documented as the primary diagnosis. 

• June 1, 2022: Violations of 9 CFR § 2.78(c) were recorded in connection with 14 nonhuman 

primate shipments, following a complaint submitted by PETA. Another one of the occasions 

PETA brought to USDA’s attention in the complaint came from Charles River – Reno, which 

was also cited by USDA for the improper shipment.  

• April 21, 2023: A repeat violation was issued after JKL accepted nonhuman primates for 

transport without documentation of a veterinary inspection within the required ten-day period. 

This was also brought to the USDA’s attention by PETA.  

• July 16, 2023: A citation was issued following a shipment of 336 monkeys imported on 

Ethiopian Airlines that were left in crates on the hot Atlanta tarmac for 95 minutes and then 

roughly handled as they were packed into JKL trailers for transport to laboratories.  

• April 28, 2025: Additional citations were issued for multiple shipments in which nonhuman 

primates were accepted for transport without documentation of a veterinary inspection within the 

required ten-day period. 

 



Taken together, these citations document a longstanding pattern of deficiencies in basic transport 

monitoring and health safeguards by JKL Secure Freight and raise serious questions about the 

effectiveness of APHIS enforcement. Despite repeated violations spanning multiple years, JKL has 

continued to transport nonhuman primates, suggesting that existing enforcement tools have failed to 

deter noncompliance. 

 

More broadly, this record highlights systemic weaknesses in APHIS oversight of registered ground 

carriers. Inspections of shipments in progress are rare, and enforcement decisions rely heavily on 

transporter-generated paperwork rather than contemporaneous observation. As a result, inaccurate or 

improper records may go undetected unless identified through external complaints—often submitted by 

PETA—rather than through routine APHIS inspection activity. Other barriers to prevent repeat 

offenders exist because carriers are classified as “registrants,” which means APHIS cannot deny, 

suspend, or revoke their registration. These structural limitations warrant OIG review to determine 

whether APHIS’s enforcement framework for registrants is adequate to ensure compliance with the 

Animal Welfare Act and to protect animal welfare during transport.  

 

Biosecurity Implications of Unexplained Primate Deaths During Transport 

The circumstances of this shipment also raise broader biosecurity considerations relevant to USDA 

oversight. Primates imported for research are known reservoirs for pathogens of public health concern, 

including tuberculosis, hepatitis A, malaria, shigellosis, salmonellosis, campylobacteriosis, measles, and 

simian retroviruses, many of which are subject to federal or state reporting requirements when detected 

in humans and other animals. While primates may clear pre-transport health screening, including 

tuberculosis testing, such screening does not eliminate the risk of latent or subclinical infection, nor does 

it ensure that animals are fully fit for transport. Stress associated with transport can exacerbate 

underlying health conditions and increase the likelihood of clinical deterioration during shipment. 

Two weeks after this February 7 transport from Florida to Connecticut, a Michigan laboratory identified 

tuberculosis-positive long-tailed macaques that had been flown from Mauritius to Florida, completed a 

31-day quarantine, and tested negative for tuberculosis prior to shipment before being transported to 

Michigan. This incident underscores the limitations of relying solely on pre-transport screening and 

highlights the importance of careful oversight when unexplained deaths occur during transit.  

The monkeys transported by JKL in the February 7 shipment are also likely to have originated from 

Mauritius. The facility that BC US imports its monkeys from, Bioculture Mauritius, has had multiple 

reported tuberculosis outbreaks in past years, including an outbreak detected in May 2023 that 

reportedly resulted in the euthanasia of 450 long-tailed macaques. This raises the question of whether 

the macaques transported from BC US by JKL were also carrying latent tuberculosis. Records received 

from a FOIA request to the USDA’s National Veterinary Services Laboratories (NVSL) reveal that these 

infections are not always readily detectable on necropsy; a culture may be required for diagnosis. 

Moreover, facility records and NVSL submission data suggest that diagnostic escalation typically occurs 

only if a monkey exhibits overt clinical signs or generates a TST reaction graded 3/5 or higher. As a 

result, many infected animals may never be tested beyond the initial TSTs, and latent infections can go 

entirely undetected. These failures illustrate a central truth: even the most comprehensive current 

protocols are not sufficient to detect tuberculosis in primates. Monkeys may be released from federal 

quarantine and distributed to research facilities while still harboring transmissible TB. This undermines 



biosecurity and jeopardizes the health of laboratory personnel, other animals, and the scientific validity 

of downstream research.  

For the reasons described above, we request that the OIG review APHIS’s handling of this matter, 

including the inspection conducted by Dr. Katharine Frank, the decision to close the case without 

enforcement, and APHIS’s broader inspection and enforcement practices for registered primate carriers, 

as well as JKL Secure Freight’s conduct as a USDA-registered transport company. The record raises 

unresolved questions regarding inspection practices, enforcement decisions, and oversight of repeat 

noncompliance in the transportation of primates. 

USDA oversight programs are intended to protect animal welfare and public health through consistent 

and enforceable standards. An independent OIG review is necessary to determine whether these 

standards are applied consistently and that documented deaths in transit are fully and transparently 

evaluated. 

Thank you for your time and consideration. 

Sincerely, 

 
Lisa Jones-Engel, Ph.D. 

Senior Science Advisor, Primate Experimentation 

Laboratory Investigations Department 

People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals 

LisaJE@peta.org 

 

Enclosures 

1. Record of Acquisition, Disposition or Transport of Animals 

2. Certificate of Veterinary Inspection 

3. Animal Health Observation Log 

4. Necropsy Reports 

5. JKL Secure Freight Incident Report 
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